### A. Assignments of Error

- 1. The trial court erred by finding Respondent strictly complied with the requirements of the WDTA.
- 2. The trial court erred in finding that waiver occurred in this case.

# B. Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

- 1. Did Respondent fail to strictly comply with the Requirements of the WDTA when it failed to transmit new NOD's prior to the recording of NOTS 2 and NOTS 3?
- 2. Does the holding in Schroeder v. Excelsior Mgmt Grp apply to this case to prevent waiver of Appellants' claims?
- 3. Do the holdings in *Plein v. Lackey* and *Frizzell v.Murray* require waiver of Appellants' claims?
- 4. Does the April 9, 2010 NOD violate RCW 61.24.030(8) thereby independently invalidating the sale?

#### II STANDARDS OF REVIEW

### A. Summary Judgment

Summary judgment is reviewed de novo by the reviewing court.

The court engages in the same inquiry as the trial court under CR 56(c),

viewing the facts of the case and the reasonable inferences from those facts in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. *Harrington v. Spokane County*, 128 Wn. App. 202 (2005). The court is not authorized to dismiss a case on summary judgment if a genuine issue of material fact has been raised by the non-moving party. *Barrie v. Hosts of America*, 94 Wn.2d 640 (1980), A fact is material if the outcome of the case, in whole or in part, depends upon it. *Barber v. Bankers Life & Cas. Co., 81 Wn.2d* 140, 500 P.2d 88 (1972).

A moving party must demonstrate by uncontroverted evidence that there is no genuine issue of material fact. *Rossiter v. Moore*, 59 Wn.2d 722, 370 P.2d 250 (1962); and 6 J. Moore, Federal Practice 56.07, 56.15(3) (2d ed. 1948). If the moving party does not sustain that burden, the court should not grant summary judgment, regardless of whether the non-moving party submits affidavits or other materials. (Italics added). Trautman, Motions for Summary Judgment: Their Use and Effect in Washington, 45 Washington Law Review 1, 15 (1970).

As the above standards relate to this case, if, after considering the material evidence in a light most favorable to Appellants, reasonable people might have reached different conclusions about the evidence presented, then Respondent's motion should have been denied. *Balise v.* 

*Underwood*, 62 Wn.2d 195, 199, 381 P.2d 966 (1963); *See Also* 6 J. Moore, Federal Practice 56.11(3), 56.15(3).

# B. The WDTA requirements for non-judicial foreclosure.

Under the Washington Deeds of Trust Act (WDTA), for non-owner-occupied real property, non-judicial foreclosure is a three-step process: (1) mailing and serving of a notice of default (RCW 61.24.031(1)(a) and (5)); (2) followed by at least 30 days by issuance of a notice of trustee's sale (RCW 61.24.030(8)); and (3) followed by at least 90 days by the public auction of the property (RCW 61.24.040(1)(a)). After the sale date is set by the NOTS, the sale may not occur more than 120 days beyond the scheduled sale date, at least not without reissuing the statutory notices. *Albice v. Premier Mortgage Services of Washington, Inc.*, 170 Wn.2d 1029 (2011); *Watson v. Northwest Trustee Services, Inc.*, No. 69352-2-I (2013).

# C. Strict Compliance with the provisions of the Washington Deeds of Trust Act.

The Washington Supreme Court has stated on numerous occasions that beneficiaries and trustees must strictly comply with the provisions of the WDTA and, because the WDTA removes many of the traditional protections for borrowers, courts must interpret the act in favor of

borrowers. Bain v. Metropolitan Mortgage Group, Inc., 175 Wn.2d 83 (2012); Udall v. T.D. Escrow Servs., Inc., 159 Wn.2d 903, 915-16, 154 P.3d 882 (2007) (citing Queen City Sav. & Loan Ass'n v. Mannhalt, 111Wn.2d 503, 514, 760 P.2d 350 (1988) (Dore, J., dissenting)).

#### III STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### A. Factual Background

William and Shalawn Leahy's ("Appellants") mortgage debt fell into default on or about March 1, 2009. *Verbatim Report of Proceedings*, *December 6, 2013 ("RP1")*, at 6: 3-4; *CP* at 300. Evidence of the mortgage debt consisted of a promissory note ("Note") and a Deed of Trust ("DOT") that secured the debt obligation and the performance of Appellants' covenants and agreements under the Note.

### 1. First attempt to sell Property.

#### a. Notice of Default.

On or about April 9, 2010, Quality Loan Service of Washington ("Respondent"), purporting to act as the "authorized agent" for the WaMu Mortgage Pass-Through Certificates Series 2006-AR15 Trust ("Trust"), commenced a non-judicial foreclosure against Appellants' property commonly known as 9745 Phinney Ave N., Seattle, WA 98103

("Property") by transmitting a Notice of Default ("NOD") to Appellants.<sup>1</sup>

RP1 at 7: 8-10. The NOD did not contain many of the items of information required to be included in a NOD by RCW 61.24.030(8)(a) – (1). CP at 299-302.

#### b. First Notice of Trustee's Sale.

On July 21, 2010, Respondent recorded the first Notice of Trustee's Sale ("NOTS1"). *RP1* at 7: 20-22; *CP* at 311. Section VI of NOTS1 states the April 9, 2010 NOD is NOTS1's antecedent in the foreclosure process. *CP* at 312. Additionally, NOTS1 sets October 22, 2010 as the original sale date. *CP* at 311.

The 120<sup>th</sup> day after October 22, 2010 was February 19, 2011.

Accordingly, pursuant to RCW 61.24.040(6), February 19, 2011 was the last date upon which the Property could lawfully be sold as a consequence of the original foreclosure proceeding.

October 22, 2010 came and went without any attempt to publicly auction the Property or to continue the sale to another date. February 19, 2011 came and went without any attempt to publicly auction the Property. No later than February 20, 2011, therefore, the original foreclosure proceeding was terminated by operation of law.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The NOD identifies the Trust as the owner of the Note and beneficiary of the DOT.

#### 2. Foreclosure Fairness Act

On July 22, 2011, the Foreclosure Fairness Act ("FFA") amended the Washington Deeds of Trust Act ("WDTA"). A true and correct copy of the FFA is attached hereto as Appendix C. Among other provisions, the FFA includes RCW 61.24.030, .031, and .040. These sections contain the FFA's and WDTA's notice requirements.

RCW 61.24.030(8) requires a NOD to be transmitted to the borrower at least 30 days prior to the recording, transmitting, or serving of a notice of trustee's sale. In a non-owner-occupied residential real property sale, the same type of sale at issue in the instant case, RCW 61.24.040(1) prohibits the sale of the property until at least ninety days have elapsed following the recording and mailing of the notice of trustee's sale. RCW 61.24.040(2) requires the trustee to include a copy of a "notice of foreclosure" with the notice of trustee's sale that is mailed to the borrower.

In the absence of a bankruptcy or preliminary injunction, RCW 61.24.040(6) prohibits the trustee from continuing the sale of a property, for any reason, for more than 120 days beyond the original sale date.

# 3. First attempt to resume sale of the Property.

The second attempt to foreclose the Property occurred on July 12, 2012, five hundred and eight (508) days after February 19, 2011, the last date upon which the sale could lawfully be conducted. *RP1* at 9: 3-5. On July 12<sup>th</sup>, Respondent recorded a new notice of trustee's sale ("NOTS2"). *Id.* Section VI of NOTS2, like Section VI of NOTS1, proclaims the April 9, 2010 NOD is its antecedent in the foreclosure proceeding (*CP* at 316), making NOTS2 an attempt to continue the original sale. NOTS2 set November 9, 2012 as the new sale date. *CP* at 315.

November 9, 2012 was 749 days after October 22, 2010, the original sale day, and 628 days after February 19, 2011, the last date upon which the Property could be lawfully sold.

# 4. Second attempt to resume original sale of Property.

On September 19, 2012, while the first attempt to resume the original foreclosure proceeding was still active, Respondent made a second attempt to resume the original foreclosure proceeding by recording the third and final NOTS ("NOTS3"). *CP* at 323. Section VI of NOTS3, like Section VI of NOTS1 and NOTS 2, proclaims the April 9, 2010 NOD is its antecedent in the foreclosure proceeding (*CP* at 324), making NOTS3 a second attempt to continue the original sale. NOTS3 set January 18, 2013 as the new sale date. *CP* at 323.

January 18, 2013 was 819 days after October 22, 2010, the original sale day, and 698 days after February 19, 2011, the last date upon which the Property could lawfully be sold.

# 5. Recording of NOTS3 created simultaneous attempted extensions of original foreclosure proceeding.

As a result of the recording of NOTS3, on September 19, 2012, there were simultaneous attempts to extend the original foreclosure proceeding. Pursuant to NOTS2, the sale date was extended to November 9, 2012. *CP* at 315. Pursuant to NOTS3, on the other hand, the sale date was extended to January 18, 2013. *CP* 323. Both sale dates were more than 120 days after both October 22, 2010 and February 19, 2011.

#### IV STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. Did Respondent fail to strictly comply with the Requirements of the WDTA when it failed to transmit new NOD's prior to the recording of NOTS 2 and NOTS 3?
- 2. Does the holding in Schroeder v. Excelsior Mgmt Grp., LLC 177 Wn.2d 94 (2012) apply to this case to prevent waiver of the Appellants' claims?
- 3. Do the holdings in *Plein v. Lackey* and *Frizzell v. Murray* require waiver of Appellants' claims?
- 4. Did the April 9, 2010 NOD fail to comply with RCW 61.24.030(8) and thereby independently invalidate the sale?

#### V ARGUMENT

 Respondent materially failed to comply with the Requirements of the FFA and WDTA when it failed to transmit new NOD's prior to recording NOTS2 and NOTS3.

This Court recently decided this issue in *Watson v. Northwest*Trustee Services, Inc. ("Watson"), No. 69352-2-1. The opinion was issued on January 21, 2014 and published on March 18, 2014.

# a. Watson procedural facts.

Northwest Trustee Services, Inc. ("NWTS") sought discretionary review of the trial court's denial of NWTS's motion for summary dismissal of Plaintiffs' claim for damages.<sup>2</sup> Cross-Appellants cross petitioned seeking review of the trial court's dismissal of their claims under the CPA, Chapter 19.86 ("CPA").

This Court granted Cross-Appellants' petition and reversed the trial court's dismissal of Cross-Appellants' CPA claims and denied NWTS's petition for discretionary review.

# b. Watson historical facts.

Cross-Appellants financed the purchase of a home by executing a promissory note and deed of trust. Appellant Citibank acquired the note and deed of trust and, after Cross-Appellants defaulted on the loan, appointed Appellant NWTS the successor trustee.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> RCW 61.24.030, .031, and .040.

On February 5, 2011, NWTS sent Cross-Appellants a NOD. Fortyfive days later, on March 22, 2011, NWTS recorded the initial notice of trustee's sale. The notice scheduled the sale for June 24, 2011.

On June 20, 2011, four days before the scheduled sale, Cross-Appellants filed for bankruptcy. The automatic stay created by the bankruptcy filing caused Appellant to initially postpone and then *cancel* the sale.

On July 22, 2011, the FFA amended the WDTA. The FFA changed the requirements for pre-foreclosure notice and allowed recovery of damages for violations of the CPA.

NWTS recorded an "amended" notice of trustee's sale on

November 8, 2011, one hundred thirty-seven (137) days after the original
sale date. The "amended" notice scheduled the sale for December 23,

2011, one hundred eighty-two (182) days after the original sale date.

NWTS did not transmit a new notice of default before recording the "amended" notice of trustee's sale.

This Court observed that: (1) under the FFA, the trustee *must* transmit a NOD to the borrower before a NOTS is recorded, transmitted or served (*Id.* at 6.); and (2) RCW 61.24.040(6) authorizes the trustee to continue a sale for a period or periods not exceeding a total of 120 days. *Id.* at 6-7.

NWTS claimed the NOD sent to Cross-Appellants on February 5, 2011 fulfilled NWTS's notice obligations under the FFA and WDTA. The trial court disagreed.

### c. Watson v. Northwest Trustee Services, Inc., No. 69352-2-1

In Watson, this Court made the following findings: (1) the March 22, 2011 notice of trustee's sale described a sale that was supposed to occur on June 24, 2011; (2) NWTS first continued and then *cancelled* that sale; and (3) RCW 61.24.040(6) permitted NWTS to continue the June 24, 2011 sale for no more than 120 days, or until October 22, 2011. *Id.* at 7. After making these findings, the Court concluded:

After that date [October 22, 2011], the DTA required a new notice. Therefore, although NWTS labeled its second notice an "amended" notice of trustee's sale, this notice necessarily scheduled a new sale. Because NWTS recorded the "amended" notice in November 2011, the notice requirements of the FFA applied.

Id.

This Court then granted Cross-Appellants' petition, reversed the trial court's dismissal of the CPA claims, and remanded the case to the trial court for further proceedings consistent with its opinion. *Id.* at 8-9.

d. Effect of Watson v. Northwest Trustee Services on this case.

Because the facts in this case mirror the facts in *Watson* in every consequential respect, the ruling in this case should mirror the ruling in *Watson*.

In the instant case, although Section VI of both NOTS2 and NOTS3 contain the claim that the April 9, 2010 NOD are their antecedent in the foreclosure process, the sale dates set by NOTS2 and NOTS3 were both more than 120 days after the original, October 22, 2010 sale date. Exactly the same factual circumstance was present in *Watson*. In Watson, the second attempt to sell the property was scheduled for a date that was 182 days after the original sale date.

The violations of RCW 61.24.040(6) are much more egregious in this case. NOTS2 scheduled a sale date that was 749 days after the October 22, 2010, original sale date. NOTS3 scheduled a sale date that was 819 days after the original sale date. Consequently, as in Watson, to strictly comply with the requirements of RCW 61.24.030(8) and 61.24.040(6), Respondent Quality was required to send a new NOD prior to recording NOTS2 and prior to recording NOTS3. Quality did not send a new notice of default before recording either NOTS2 or NOTS3.

The trial court found that a new NOD was not required before Quality filed either NOTS2 or NOTS3 (*Verbatim Report of Proceedings*, *April 18*, *2014* ("RP2"), at 14: 10-15.) and that Quality had strictly

complied with the requirements of the WDTA prior to recording NOTS2 and NOTS3. *CP* at 17: 3-5.

# 2. Holding in Schroeder v. Excelsior Mgmt Grp., LLC, 177 Wn.2d 94 (2012) prevents waiver of Appellants' claims.

During the summary judgment hearing, Appellants argued Schroeder v. Excelsior Management Grp., 177 Wn.2d 94 (2013) ("Schroeder") applied to prevent "waiver" of Appellants' claims. RP2 at 11: 3-17. Respondent Quality countered that Schroeder applied only to attempts to non-judicially foreclose agricultural land, and, since this case did not involve the non-judicial foreclosure of agricultural land, Schroeder did not apply. RP2 at 15: 8-21

The trial court, agreeing with Respondent Quality, stated that: (1) the "waiver doctrine" clearly applies to the facts of this case; and, (2) because of the factual differences between the facts in this case and the facts in *Schroeder*, the holding in *Schroeder* does not apply to this case and does not prevent application of the "waiver doctrine." Additionally, the trial court, again agreeing with Quality, found that *Frizzell v. Murray*, No 87927-3 (2013) ("*Frizzell*") applies, and, consequently, Appellants herein "waived" the right to contest the sale of their home. RP2 at 17: 3 – 19: 13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The court stated: "Beyond that, the Court would find that there is clearly waiver under the case law, including the cases that have come out recently, *Frizzell. Schroeder* is

The trial court was wrong. *Schroeder* applies, and *Plein v. Lackey*, 149 Wn.2d 214 (2003) ("*Plein"*) and *Frizzell* do not.

Schroeder does indeed hold that agricultural land may not be foreclosed non-judicially. That specific holding, however, is not the defining legal principle for which Schroeder will be cited in years to come. In fact, the Schroeder holding is not even the source of the prohibition against non-judicial foreclosure of agricultural land.

Agricultural land in Washington may not be foreclosed non-judicially because RCW 61.24.030(2) forbids non-judicial foreclosure of agricultural land.

Schroeder would not be noteworthy if its holding merely confirmed the WDTA prohibition against non-judicial foreclosure of agricultural land. Schroeder, however, is extremely noteworthy. This is because it holds: (1) each of the eight subparts of RCW 61.24.030 is a "limit on the trustee's power" to foreclose without judicial supervision, not a "right" or "privilege" of the borrower; (2) if a trustee violates any one of the eight requisites in conducting a non-judicial foreclosure, the trustee's foreclosure actions fall wholly outside the WDTA and are

completely distinguishable in that it talks about an agreed contractual waiver between parties dealing with agricultural land, and the law of that case is that the Deed of Trust Act does not apply. The waiver and the Deed of Trust Act does not apply to agricultural lands." VRP2 at 18: 18-25.

18

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Schroeder, at 106 – 07.

actionable; and (3) restrictions written into the WDTA in opposition to borrowers taking legal action against the trustee, including the "waiver" and "owner-occupied" restrictions, do not apply if the borrower's legal action is based on the trustee's violation of one or more of the eight requisites to a lawful non-judicial foreclosure sale.

The Schroeder court makes the point in the following terms:

The difficulty with the defendants' waiver argument is that RCW 61.24.030 is not a rights-or-privilegescreating statute. Instead, it sets up a list of "requisite[s] to a trustee's sale." Among other things, it is a requisite to a trustee's sale that the deed contain the power of sale, .030(1); that the property not be used primarily for agricultural purposes, .030(2); that a default has occurred, .030(3); that there is no other pending action by the beneficiary to seek satisfaction of the obligation, .030(4); that the deed has been recorded in the relevant counties, .030(5); that the trustee maintain an address for service of process, .030(6); that the trustee have proof that the beneficiary is the owner of the obligation secured by the deed of trust, .030(7); and that the beneficiary has given written notice of the default to the debtor containing specific statutory language advising the debtors of their rights, .030(8). These are not, properly speaking, rights held by the debtor; instead, they are limits on the trustee's power to foreclose without judicial supervision.

Schroeder, at 106 - 07. (Italics added.)

As the above quote indicates, RCW 61.24.030(8) forbids nonjudicial foreclosure of residential real property if the NOTS that schedules the sale date is not preceded in the foreclosure process by transmission of a legally-viable NOD to the borrower. Moreover, pursuant to the rulings in Schroeder, a borrower's opportunity to assert a violation of RCW 61.24.030(8) cannot be waived because it is a statutorily-imposed limit on the trustee's power to foreclose, not a "right" or "privilege" of the borrower.

Because NOTS2 and NOTS3 each set a sale date that was more than 120 days after the original sale date, Quality's failures to transmit a new NOD prior to recording and mailing each of NOTS2 and NOTS3 were violations of RCW 61.24.030(8). Each of those violations, standing alone, invalidated the attempt to resume the original foreclosure proceeding with which it was associated. Therefore, neither the "waiver doctrine" stated in RCW 61.24.040(1)(f)(IX) nor the "owner-occupied" requirement contained in RCW 61.24.127(3) applies to Appellants with respect to these two foreclosure proceedings.

- 3. Neither *Plein v. Lackey* nor *Frizzell v. Murray* require "waiver" in this case.
  - a. Respondent and the trial court's reliance on *Plein* is misplaced.

Like Respondent Quality, respondents in *Schroeder* relied on *Plein* in support of their assertion that plaintiff had waived all claims by failing to bring a timely action to restrain the sale. The *Schroeder* court observed

that the facts in *Plein did not involve a violation of RCW 61.24.030*<sup>5</sup> and then rejected respondents' reliance on *Plein* in the following terms:

We conclude that the respondents' reliance on Plein is misplaced. It is well settled that the trustee in foreclosure must strictly comply with the statutory requirements. Albice, 174 Wn.2d at 568 (citing Udall, 159 Wn.2d at 915-16). A trustee in a nonjudicial foreclosure may not exceed the authority vested by that statute. Id. As we have recently held, the borrower may not grant a trustee powers the trustee does not have by contracting around provisions in the deed of trust statute. Bain, 175 Wn.2d at 100.

Nothing in Plein, suggests that waiver might cause the deed of trust act to apply to transactions to which the deed of trust act does not apply. If Schroeder's 200 acres were used primarily for agricultural purposes, *Plein* is inapplicable.

Schroeder, at 111 - 112. (Emphasis added.)

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