Case No. 72065-1

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

WILLIAM LEAHY AND SHALAWN LEAHY,

Plaintiffs-Appellants,

vs.

QUALITY LOAN SERVICE CORPORATION OF WASHINGTON,

Defendant-Respondent.

Appeal from an Order of the King County Superior Court Case No. 13-2-02307-SEA

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

McCarthy & Holthus, LLP Thomas Moore, Esq., WSB # 46027 108 1st Ave. South, Suite 300 Seattle, WA 98104 Telephone: (206) 319-9100 Facsimile: (206) 780-6862 Email: tmoore@mccarthyholthus.com

Attorneys for Respondent Quality Loan Service Corporation of Washington

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

ARGUMENT

I. <u>Appellants Have Not Shown Any Violation of the Deed of</u> <u>Trust Act Based on the Issuance of a Second and Third Notice</u> <u>of Trustee Sale.</u>

The thrust of the Leahys' argument is that by issuing a second Notice of Trustee's Sale on July 12, 2012 and a third Notice of Trustee's Sale on September 19, 2012, without also issuing a new Notice of Default, Quality violated the provisions of the Deed of Trust Act. (Opening Br. 16.) Simply put, this contention is not supported by the DTA.

The DTA provides that following issuance of a notice of default, a trustee must record a notice of sale specifying the date, time, and location of the sale date, along with other statutorily-outlined information. RCW 61.24.040(1). The trustee may then postpone the trustee's sale for up to 120 days from the date provided in the notice of sale without issuing a new notice. RCW 61.24.040(6) ("The trustee has no obligation to, but may . . . continue the sale for a period or periods not exceeding a total of one hundred twenty days . . ."). If the sale is not held within 120 days from the date provided in the notice of sale, a new notice of sale is required.

The Leahys contend that February 19, 2011 was "the last date upon which the Property could be lawfully sold" because that was 120 days from the sale date identified in the first Notice of Trustee's Sale. According to the Leahys, a property cannot be sold more than 120 days from the sale date included in a notice of sale – regardless of whether a subsequent notice of sale is issued – without starting the entire process anew by issuing a new notice of default. (*See* Opening Br. 16.) However, the Leahys' argument does not find support in the DTA.

There is no language in the DTA that refers, either explicitly or implicitly, to an expiration date on a notice of default. To the contrary, courts have recognized that once a notice of default has been issued and the default remains un-cured, a trustee need only issue a new notice of trustee's sale to resume the foreclosure process following the discontinuance of an earlier sale. *See, e.g., Meyers Way Dev. Ltd. P'ship v. Univ. Sav. Bank*, 80 Wn. App. 655, 671 (1996) (trustee's issuance of new notice of sale following dismissal of the grantor's bankruptcy petition "was not cause for renewing the process from the beginning.").

In a case with similar facts and allegations originating out of the Western District Court of Washington, U.S. Bank Nat'l Ass'n v. Woods, 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 78676 (W.D. Wash. June 6, 2012), the court rejected the borrower's argument that the notice of default "expired" when multiple notices of sale were issued. In so doing, the court observed that, "to the extent the borrowers are arguing that the notice of default

somehow expired, they fail to cite case or statutory authority on which they rely in making the argument and the Court is unaware of any." U.S. Bank Nat'l Ass'n v. Woods, 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 78676, *18 (W.D. Wash. June 6, 2012). Here, similarly, the Leahys offer a theory that every new notice of sale must be preceded by a new notice of default, implying that a notice of default somehow expires by passage of time. However, like the borrowers in Woods, the Leahys offer no support, either rooted in statute or case law, to support this theory.

In an attempt to support their claim, the Leahys cite *Watson v. Northwest Trustee Services, Inc.*, (Opening Br. 13), but they overstate *Watson*'s holding. The *Watson* court *did not* hold that a trustee can never issue a subsequent notice of sale without also issuing a new notice of default. In *Watson* the trustee had issued a notice of default and notice of sale before the Foreclosure Fairness Act ("FFA") went into effect, and following the statute's effective date the trustee attempted to issue an "amended" notice of sale without first complying with the FFA's preforeclosure requirements. *Watson v. Northwest Trustee Services, Inc.*, 180 Wn.App. 8, 14-15 (2014). The court held that the FFA's requirements applied retroactively to foreclosures that had been initiated by a notice of default prior to the statute's enactment, and therefore compliance with the FFA was required. *Id.* at 15. Nothing in the *Watson* case suggests that the court believes a new notice of default is required before every subsequent notice of sale. To the contrary, the court recognized that after a notice of sale has been issued but the sale is discontinued, the trustee may proceed by issuing a second notice of sale, provided that the other requisites to a trustee's sale have been fulfilled.² *Watson*, 180 Wn.App. at 15.

In essence, the Leahys are attempting to read in requirements to the DTA that do not exist. It is the September 2012 notice of sale – not the earlier July 2010 notice of sale – that dictates the timeframe in which Quality Loan Service could lawfully conduct the sale. The undisputed evidence showed that the sale occurred on January 18, 2013, which was the exact date noticed in the September 2012 notice of sale. (CP 391 \P 16, 392 \P 24.) Because there is nothing in the DTA that would require a new notice of default to accompany every new notice of sale, Appellants' contentions fail to provide any basis to challenge the foreclosure.

////

² To the extent that Appellants may attempt to contend that the foreclosure in the instant case was conducted without compliance with the FFA as in *Watson*, this argument is belied by Appellants' acknowledgment that the property is non-owner occupied. (Opening Br. 7, 10.) The requirements of RCW 61.24.031 apply only to deeds of trust recorded against owner-occupied residential property. RCW 61.24.031(7)(a).

II. <u>Appellants Waived Any Claim for Alleged Defects in the</u> <u>Notice of Default.</u>

Finally, the Leahys contend the Notice of Default failed to contain all the information required by RCW 61.24.030(8), including the address for the beneficiary, the phone number of the loan servicer, the exact amount needed to reinstate the loan, and the correct identification of Chase as successor to Washington Mutual Bank. (Opening Br. 22-23.) This claim fails at the outset because the Appellants waived the alleged defects by failing to raise them prior to the sale, and because they have not shown any prejudice resulting from the information in the Notice of Default.

A. Appellants Waived Any Alleged Errors in the Notice of Default.

Without even reaching the merits of their claims, the Court should affirm the dismissal of the Leahys' wrongful foreclosure claims because they have waived their right to bring any post-sale challenge by failing to avail themselves of the presale remedies outlined in RCW § 61.24.040(1)(f)(IX).

////

////

1. Appellants Have Waived any Right to Equitable Claims Invalidating the Sale.

Waiver is an equitable principle that can apply to defeat a party's legal rights where the facts support an argument that the party relinquished his rights by delaying in asserting or failing to assert an otherwise available adequate remedy. Albice v. Premier Mortg. Servs. Of Wash., Inc., 174 Wn.2d 560, 569 (2012). Courts, including the Washington Supreme Court, have found waiver in a foreclosure setting where facts support its application. See id; Frizzell v. Murray, 179 Wn.2d 301, 307 (2013) (finding that the plaintiff waived her right to contest the nonjudicial foreclosure by failing to restrain the sale); Plein v. Lackey, 149 Wn.2d 214, 229 (2003) (finding that plaintiff waived objections to the foreclosure proceedings by failing to obtain a preliminary injunction). Waiver of a post-sale challenge occurs where a party (1) received notice of the right to enjoin the sale, (2) had actual or constructive knowledge of a defense to the foreclosure prior to the sale, and (3) failed to bring an action to obtain a court order enjoining the sale. Plein, 149 Wn.2d at 227. The Washington Supreme Court has stated that adequate remedies to prevent wrongful foreclosure exist in the presale remedies allowed by the DTA, and thus it has found waiver in these circumstances furthers the goals of

providing an efficient and inexpensive foreclosure process and promoting the stability of land titles. *Id* at 228.

One such case is Frizzell v. Murray, decided in December 2013. The plaintiff in Frizzell defaulted on her loan and, after the beneficiary initiated nonjudicial foreclosure, filed suit. Along with the suit, the plaintiff sought and obtained a preliminary injunction the day before the sale, which was conditioned upon payment into the court registry. But the plaintiff failed to make the required payments, and the sale took place. Frizzell v. Murray, 179 Wn.2d 301, 305 (2013). After analyzing the case under the standards used in Plein, the Court concluded that the plaintiff waived her right to contest the nonjudicial foreclosure. See id. at 307. The Court reasoned that the plaintiff received the notice of right to enjoin the sale and she filed a motion to enjoin the sale. Id. at 307. In addition, she had knowledge of a defense to the foreclosure of the prior sale, demonstrated by the claims made in her complaint. Id. at 307. Finally, although she brought an action to obtain a court order, the order was conditioned upon a payment to the court that she failed to make and she did not request reconsideration of the decision nor did she appeal the order. Id. at 307. The instant case presents an even more clear-cut set of facts than those relied upon by the Court in Frizzell for a finding of waiver.

First, the Leahys received notice of their right to enjoin the sale. The Leahys identify three separate Notices of Sale that they received in the case. (*See* Opening Br. 9-11.) The September 2012 Notice of Sale provided notice of the January 18, 2013 sale date, which is the operative sale date in this case. (CP 432.) In addition, each of the three Notices of Trustee's Sale, which mirror the language recommended in the DTA, contained within them a paragraph that stated as follows:

> Anyone having any objections to this sale on any grounds whatsoever will be afforded an opportunity to be heard as to those objections if they bring a lawsuit to restrain the sale pursuant to RCW 61.24.130. Failure to bring such a lawsuit may result in a waiver of any proper grounds for invalidating the Trustee's sale.

(CP 421, 425, 433.) Thus, the Leahys were aware of their right to enjoin the January 18, 2013 sale no later than September 19, 2012, some four months prior to the scheduled sale, and potentially as early as July 2010.

Second, the Leahys had knowledge of their asserted defenses prior to the sale. The Leahys acknowledge receiving the April 2010 Notice of Default, and therefore were in possession of the facts necessary to determine whether it contained the statutorily-required information. (*See* Opening Br. 8-9.)

Finally, the Leahys failed to timely bring an action to obtain a court order enjoining the sale. The Leahys did seek a court order

enjoining the sale and their request was denied. (CP 392 ¶ 22-23, 502.)

As the Court explained in *Plein*:

۰ ۰ ۰

> Simply bringing an action to obtain a permanent injunction will not forestall a trustee's sale that occurs before the end of the action is reached. Moreover, if it did, it would render the requirements of RCW 61.24.130 meaningless because it would be unnecessary to obtain an actual order restraining the sale or to provide five days' notice to the trustee and payment of amounts due on the obligation. A statute must not be judicially construed in a manner that renders any part of the statute meaningless or superfluous.

Plein, 149 Wn.2d at 227 (internal citations denied).

The Leahys should have been aware of their claims many months – even years – before the January 18, 2013 sale day. In fact, Appellants contacted Quality Loan Service with threats to file an action on December 27, 2012 and January 11, 2013. (CP 392 ¶¶ 21-22.) Had the Leahys sought a restraining order at that point, it would have been timely under RCW § 61.24.130(2). Instead, they waited until the day before the sale, in clear violation of statute, to seek an injunction. (*See* CP 502.) Their requested injunction was denied, and the sale proceeded.

It is indisputable that the Leahys received notice of their right to enjoin the sale, had actual or constructive notices of the defenses they offer now well before the sale, and failed to act. Accordingly, the Leahys' delay prevents them from now asserting a claim based on the content of the Notice of Default.

2. Appellants have Waived any Right to Damages

The facts of the instant case support a finding that the Leahys waived not only any relief invalidating the sale, but any claims for damages as well. RCW 61.24.040(1)(f)(IX) must be read in conjunction with RCW 61.24.127, which states that, "the failure of the borrower or grantor to bring a civil action to enjoin a foreclosure sale under this chapter may not be deemed a waiver of a claim for damages." *However*, RCW 61.24.127(3) states that the damages exemption to the waiver rule applies "*only* to foreclosures of owner-occupied residential real property." Because the Leahys acknowledge the property is non-owner occupied, they cannot avail themselves of RCW 61.24.127 to avoid the waiver of their claims for damages.³ (*See* Opening Br. 7, 10.) As such, the record supports a finding that the Leahys have waived both any equitable

³ Shalawn Leahy filed a Declaration attesting that the Plaintiffs occupied the property only from February 2010 through May 2010. (CP 718.) The record also demonstrates that Plaintiffs advised Quality in December 2010 that they believed the property was occupied by squatters and accordingly requested that the foreclosure move forward. (CP 390 ¶ 13.) And as pointed out to the lower court, Plaintiffs alleged in both the Complaint and the First Amended Complaint that they were residents of Snohomish County, Washington, not King County where the property is located. (*See* CP 372.)

remedies relating to the nonjudicial foreclosure under RCW 61.24.040(1)(f)(IX), and any claim to monetary damages.

B. Appellants Failed to Demonstrate Prejudice.

The DTA is meant to further three public policy objectives. First, the nonjudicial foreclosure process should remain efficient and inexpensive. Second, the process should provide an adequate opportunity for interested parties to prevent wrongful foreclosure. Third, the process should promote the stability of land titles. Cox v. Helenius, 103 Wn.2d 383, 387 (1985). In light of these objectives, it is incumbent upon the litigant seeking to set aside a trustee's sale based on a procedural irregularity to show prejudice. Koegel v. Prudential Mut. Sav. Bank, 51 Wn. App. 108, 113 (1988). Indeed, in Koegel, the Court held that the appellants failed to show prejudice where a notice of trustee's sale issued less than thirty days after the notice of default in violation of the Deed of Trust Act. Id. at 112, 116. The Court noted the appellants were aware of the procedural defect and their right to contest the sale but failed to take advantage of the available legal remedies even though, as in the present case, they threatened litigation well in advance of the sale date. Id.

The record in this case provides no indication of prejudice. The Leahys admit to having defaulted on their loan in March 2009. (See Opening Br. 8.) The Leahys further admit that they received the Notice of

Default and three separate Notices of Sale. (Opening Br. 8-11.) The Leahys had knowledge of the identity of the trustee and beneficiary, and they had no trouble contacting the trustee to communicate their concerns regarding the foreclosure. (CP $390 \ 13$, $392 \ 12-23$.) As in *Koegel*, the Leahys threatened to initiate litigation, but failed to do so in the time required. Further, their Opening Brief makes no attempt to demonstrate prejudice caused by the alleged omitted information in the Notice of Default. (*See* Opening Br. 22-23.) Without such a showing, the Leahys have not demonstrated any basis to overturn the lower court's grant of summary judgment to Defendant.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Court should affirm the trial court's decision granting Quality Loan Service Corporation of Washington's motion for summary judgment.